# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-1406
LOWER COURT CASE NO. 91-002CF
VICTOR MARCUS FARR,
Appellant,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES C. LOHMAN Florida Bar #0570214 Attorney at Law 1806 East 39<sup>th</sup> Street Austin, Texas 78722 (512) 542-9947 LINDA McDERMOTT
Florida Bar No. 0102857
McClain & McDermott, P.A.
141 N.E. 30<sup>th</sup> Street
Wilton Manors, FL 33334
(850) 322-2172

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# STANDARD OF REVIEW

CERTIFICAT	E OF S	ERVICE

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Page</u>
Federal cases
Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985) 90,91
Blake v. Kemp, 758 F.2d 523 (11th Cir. 1985)90
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)48,51,54,55
Carey v. Piphus, 425 U.S. 247, 262 (1978) 99
Cowley v. Stricklin, 929 F.2d 640 (11th Cir. 1991) 90
<i>Kyles v. Whitley</i> , 514 U.S. 419 (1995) 51,55
<i>Harris v. Dugger</i> , 874 F.2d 756 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989) 56
Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985) 26,27
Hughes v. Bowers, 711 F.Supp. 1574 (N.D. Ga.1989)
aff'd 896 F.2d 558 (11th Cir. 1990)
Lambrix v. Singletary, 520 U.S. 518 (1997) 82
<i>Miller v. Champion</i> , 262 F. 3d 1066 (10 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) 27
Proffit v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 250-2 (1976) 82
Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005) 57
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668(1984) passim
Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263 (1999) 54,55
<i>Taylor v. Hayes</i> , 418 U.S. 488, 501 (1974) 99
United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976)
United States v. Fessel, 531 F.2d 1278 (5th Cir. 1979) 90 Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510
(2003)15,56
Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000) 57

# State Cases

Armstrong v. State, 862 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2003) 59
Bassett v. State, 541 So. 596 (Fla. 1989) 66
Brazeail v. State, 821 So. 2d 364(Fla. 1 <sup>st</sup> DCA 2002) 26
Brown v. State, 526 So. 2d 903, 908 (Fla. 1988) 68
Buckrem v. State, 355 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1978) 70,74
Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990) 66,74
Card v. State, 652 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 1995) 81
Castro v. State, 547 So. 2d 111 (1989)70
Dufour v. State, 904 So. 2d 42 (Fla. 2005) 39
Evans v. State, 946 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2006) i
Farr v. State, 621 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1993) 4,75
Farr v. State, 656 So. 2d 448 (1995) cert. den.
116. S.Ct. 333(1995) 5
Fead v. State, 512 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1987)
Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225 (1990)
Gardner v. State, 480 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1985)
Garner v. State, 9 So. 835 (Fla. 1891)
<i>Graham v. State</i> , 406 So. 2d 503 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) 39
<i>Grim v. Florida</i> , 971 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 2007) 58
Grosvenor v. State, 816 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 2002) 18,26
Gurganus v. State, 451 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1984) 39
Hallman v. State, 560 So. 2d 223(Fla. 1990) 65
<i>Harris v. State</i> , 415 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1982) 39
Heathcoat v. State, 430 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) 39

Henry v. State, 937 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 2006) 59	
Herring v. State, 446 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1984) 69	
Hollsworth v. State, 522 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 1988) 68	
Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 2005) i	
Link v. State, 429 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 3d Dist. Ct. App. 1983). 39	
Magill v. State, 428 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 1983) 71	
Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986)90	
Morgan v. State, 639 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1994) 90	
Morton v. State, 789 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 2001) 79	
Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990) 70,75	
O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984) 90	
Parker v. Florida, 3 So. 3d 974 (Fla. 2009) 59	
Patterson v. State, 513 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1987) 80	
Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2000) 79	
Peterka v. State, 890 So. 2d 219 (2004) 59	
Ragsdale v. State, 794 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 2001) 56	
Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1998) 39	
Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (1991) 70	
Rose 675 So. 2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1966)	
Songer v. State, 544 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1989) 74	
Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993) 80,81	
State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla.1973) 79	
State v. Grosvenor, 874 So. 2d 1176 (Fla. 2004) 18,25,27	
State v. Holton, Cir. Ct. No. 86-8931A (13th Jud. Cir.,	Hillsborough
County) 81	
State v. Lewis, 838 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 2002) 58	

State v. Lindsey, Cir. Ct. No. 91-398-CF
(3 <sup>rd</sup> Jud. Cir., Columbia County) 81
State v. Pearce, 994 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 2008) 58
State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000) 81
State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987) 90
Stevens v. State, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989) 65
State v. Steele, 348 So.2d 398 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) 99
<i>Valle v. State</i> 778 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 2001) 81
Ventura v. State, 794 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 2001) 56
Williams v. State, 797 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 2001) 39
Williams v. Florida, 987 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2008) 56
Statutes and Rules
Florida Administrative Code 14-17.012(4)(a)32 44
Florida Administrative Code 14-17.012(4)(a)12 44
Florida Administrative Code 14-17.012(4)(a)25 44
Florida Administrative Code 14-17.012(4)(a)13 44
Florida Game and Fish Commission GO-64,III.D 43
Florida Game and Fish Commission GO-64,IIIB.1.c 43
Florida R. Crim. P. 3.211 (a)(2)(iii)
Florida Statutes § 839.25
Florida Statutes § 837.012
Florida Statutes § 921.141(3)
Florida Statutes § 921.141(4)(b) and (f) 87

# Professional standards

ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases
(1989) passim
ABA Guideline 11.3.E (1989)
ABA Guideline 11.3.D (1989) 61
ABA Guideline 11.4.1
ABA Guideline 11.4.1.C (1989)
ABA Guideline 11.4.2 (1989) 15
ABA Guideline 11.6.3(B)(3)(1989) 8,58,59
ABA Standards for Criminal Justice, 4-4.1, "Commentary" (2d ed. 1980)
57
ABA, Standards for Criminal Justice, "The Prosecution Function" (1984), Standard 3-1.2
93
Code of Judicial Conduct, Cannon 3B
Model Rules of Professional Conduct R 3 8 (2002) 93 97

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

On December 11, 1990, Victor Farr spent the day drinking and bar-hopping in Lake City, Florida. By evening, he had consumed somewhere between seventeen and twenty-nine beers and mixed drinks.<sup>2</sup> At approximately 7:30 p.m., Mr. Farr exited a bar called "Tom's Place," and staggered down the street looking for a ride. He approached Cindy Thomas and Patsy Lynch and asked them for a ride, waving a gun in the air. Police reports state that one of the women thought "he was just kidding" and told him to "go for it." Mr. Farr then fired several shots wounding Ms. Thomas and Ms. Lynch, who ran into Tom's Place.

Mr. Farr continued down the street and came to a car occupied by Christopher Todd and Shirley Bryant. Again, he asked for a ride. Mr. Todd thought Mr. Farr "was really drunk" and told police: "I tried to blow him off like you know, 'You're drunk. You're crazy.'" (D.Ex 11). Mr. Farr got into the vehicle and attempted to drive it but he was "too drunk to put [the keys] in the ignition." The passenger, Shirley Bryant, "had to put the keys in the ignition" for him. Mr. Farr "could not get the headlights on." (D.Exs 9, 10). Mr. Todd exited the vehicle and Mr. Farr drove off with Shirley in the passenger seat.

Shortly after 8:30 p.m., Mr. Farr stopped at the Suwanee River Food Store some thirty miles northwest of Lake City. According to the store clerk, Mr. Farr entered the store while the female pumped gas in the car (D.Ex 28). After purchasing a six-pack of beer, Mr. Farr drove off. A short time later, he was pursued by two pick-up trucks, one driven by an officer of the Florida Game and Fish Commission and the other by an employee of the Department of Transportation (*Id.*). In high-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The following abbreviations will be sed to cite to the record: "R \_\_\_\_," record on direct appeal to this Court; "SR \_\_\_\_," supplemental record on direct appeal to this Court following re-sentencing; "PC \_:\_\_," Rule 3.850 record on appeal, designated as "volume: page"; "EH\_\_," Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing transcript; "D.Ex\_," defense exhibits admitted during the evidentiary hearing; "S.Ex \_\_\_\_." State's exhibits admitted during the evidentiary hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>There is no trial record in the case and there was no sworn witness testimony of any kind until the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing in November 2007. These details and the following account are derived from police reports reconstructing Mr. Farr's alcohol consumption and activities that day, introduced at the Rule 3.850 hearing (S.Ex 8; D.Exs 12, 14, 17, 19, 28).

speed pursuit, the trucks attempted to stop the vehicle by pulling along side it, but Mr. Farr accelerated and pulled ahead. Moments later, at approximately 8:46 p.m., the vehicle went into a large curve and ran off the road into a pine tree (*Id.*). Shirley Bryant was killed in the collision. Several hours later, at 10:56 p.m., a blood sample was taken from Mr. Farr at the hospital. His blood alcohol content at that time was determined to be .21%.

The next day, Mr. Farr was interviewed at the Hamilton County Jail by Lake City Police Chief Frank Owens. Mr. Farr remembered little about the previous evening (D.Ex 7). That afternoon, in transit to the Columbia County jail he told the transport officer that the first thing he remembered was his jeans being cut off at the hospital (D.Ex 8). He asked the officer, "How is the girl that was riding with me?" (*Id.*). The officer replied that he "wasn't sure." Mr. Farr said, "I don't see how she could have been hurt so bad, and I didn't get hurt hardly at all." (*Id.*). According to the officer, Mr. Farr "did ask about the girl two more times before we got back to Lake City." (*Id.*).

The next day, December 13, 1990, William Slaughter was appointed to represent Mr. Farr. During the next two months, Mr. Farr, who has a seventh grade education, wrote numerous letters imploring his attorney to visit him. He wrote, "I never ment to kill her. I never plained to hurt her." (sic) (D.Ex 34). Mr. Farr wrote to his attorney that he had a psychiatric history and asked counsel to obtain his mental health records from Texas (D.Ex 39). He wrote that he was being threatened by jail officers (D.Exs 39, 43). After two months in jail, Mr. Farr had still not received a visit from his attorney. On February 14, counsel wrote Mr. Farr stating, "You are correct . . . that I have not come to talk with you. . . *There is no need for a face to face conference*." (D.Ex 42).

Mr. Farr continued to write to his attorney, begging him to visit. Finally, more than two months after his arrest and having received *no* visits from his lawyer, on February 20, Mr. Farr wrote to his prosecutor claiming that he had driven into the tree intentionally "wishing to end both lives." (R. 217-8). On February 28, Mr. Farr was beaten "to a bloody pulp" by guards at the Columbia County Jail (EH 564-7, 578-9, 580-2, 669-71). That night, Mr. Farr wrote a detailed account of the beating to his attorney (D.Ex 43). On March 14, Mr. Farr informed counsel that he had written to

the prosecutor "saying I ment to kill the girl" (D.Ex 46). He confided, "True I did not mean any of that night to take place," but informed his attorney nevertheless: "I'll get on the stand and tell how I plained to kill (sic)."

On March 25, counsel wrote to Mr. Farr and informed him the state was not seeking the death penalty and that they "might be offering us a 'deal.'" On March 28, counsel drafted a "deal" whereby Mr. Farr would plead guilty and receive a death sentence (R. 180-3), and on April 2, 1991, per that agreement, Mr. Farr pled guilty "in return for" being sentenced to death (R. 1-38, 175-83).

On direct appeal, this Court vacated Mr. Farr's death sentence and remanded for resentencing, stating that "mitigating evidence *must* be considered and weighed when contained anywhere in the record, to the extent it is believable and uncontroverted. . .":

That requirement applies with no less force when a defendant argues in favor of the death penalty and even if the defendant asks the court not to consider the mitigating evidence.

Farr v. State, 621 So. 2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993)(citations omitted)(italics in original; bold added). Noting that the trial court "apparently was influenced by Farr's decision not to present a case in mitigation," id., this Court vacated Mr. Farr's death sentence because the trial court failed to consider information about Farr's troubled childhood, numerous suicide attempts, the murder of his mother, psychological disorders resulting in hospitalization, sexual abuse suffered as a child, and his chronic alcoholism and drug abuse, among other matters.

*Id.* At his resentencing on December 8, 1993, Mr. Farr disavowed all the mitigating evidence relied upon by this Court in remanding the case. No mitigating evidence was offered at the resentencing proceeding, and Mr. Farr was again sentenced to death (SR. 493-512). The sentencing memorandum setting forth the reasons for sentencing Mr. Farr to death was written entirely by Mr. Farr's prosecutor (DExs. 22, 31, 33; EH 118, 752).

On appeal, this Court affirmed. *Farr v. State*, 656 So. 2d 448 (1995). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 16, 1995. *Farr v. Florida*, 116. S.Ct. 333 (1995).

An evidentiary hearing on Mr. Farr's Rule 3.850 motion was held in November, 2007. Mr. Farr's trial attorney testified that he conducted no background investigation whatsoever into Mr.

Farr's life (EH 257-8, 292). Counsel testified that "investigation" in a capital case requires only "review of discovery materials [and] interview of the client, those two things." (EH 279). Counsel testified he felt no duty to determine the truth about Mr. Farr's background (EH 269). Counsel thus did not ascertain that Mr. Farr had a history of psychiatric treatment and suicide attempts, that he suffers from a multi-generational bi-polar disorder, that he was severely abused and neglected throughout childhood, grew up in poverty, and that he had only a seventh grade education.

Counsel testified that despite Mr. Farr's well-documented state of extreme intoxication at the time of the offense, he recommended Mr. Farr not pursue an intoxication defense because he "absolutely" believed Mr. Farr would "have to get on the stand" and testify in order to utilize such a defense (EH 250-1).

Counsel conducted no investigation of the circumstances of the fatal automobile collision at issue in Mr. Farr's case. Had counsel done so, he would have known that it was utterly "impossible" for Mr. Farr to have hit the tree intentionally (EH 546). Counsel thus accepted uncritically Mr. Farr's claim that he ran into the tree deliberately – a claim first made in a letter to his prosecutor asking to receive the death penalty, after two months in jail without a visit from his lawyer.

Forty days after post-hearing briefing was concluded, the Circuit Court issued an Order denying all relief. In its Order, the court acknowledged that "going to trial would require a great deal more investigation both in the guilt/innocence phase and the penalty phase," and that trial counsel "believed that he probably could have avoided the death penalty for Farr." (PC7:123). The court found that during the first 60 days after Mr. Farr's arrest, counsel made but one "brief" visit to the jail (before being appointed to the case), and "had written Farr twice and had at least one phone conversation." The court determined that this was adequate, holding that "a defendant's subjective desire for the comfort of a face-to-face meeting with his attorney simply does not rise to the level of a professional obligation." (PC7:125-6).

The court found that counsel's decision "not to pursue" a voluntary intoxication defense "was a reasonable strategic decision." (PC7:126). The court determined that counsel had no duty to

conduct any investigation into the circumstances of the offense, finding: "[H]ad litigation continued on, there were many areas to be investigated. However, Farr insisted on resolving this matter before those matters could be pursued." (PC7:127).

The court categorically rejected the sworn testimony of three eyewitnesses to Mr. Farr's severe beating at the hands of jail staff some sixteen years earlier. Without any explanation, the court found: "these three witnesses were incredible. Their stories appear totally concocted and fabricated." (PC7: 127).

The court found that Mr. Farr "generated a great volume of legally admissible mitigation evidence" at the hearing (PC7:132). Nevertheless, the court concluded that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to conduct any investigation whatsoever because "Farr had directed him not to investigate any mitigation." (*Id.*). The court embraced Mr. Farr's own logic at the 1993 resentencing where he testified that introducing evidence of his troubled life would be a "cop out." Adopting the reasoning of a bi-polar, seventh grade dropout, the court quoted Mr. Farr in holding that: "although others may view Farr's childhood as deprived, it is certainly not necessarily wrong for Farr to view it as a 'cop out to say that that played any part in that night for it did not'. . . A large segment of the population would certainly share Farr's views." (PC7:133). The court thus concluded: "Farr credibly established that there was no substantial mitigation." (PC7:132).

With regard to the prosecutor's improper authorship of the trial court's capital sentencing order, the court acknowledged that "The bulk of the [trial court's] findings were identical to the State's proposed findings." (PC7:136). Although evidence of the violation was not in the record, the court found the claim procedurally barred (PC7:136). The court likewise found: "[C]laims of inaccuracies in the factual findings clearly should have been raised on direct appeal." (PC7:136, 138).

Ultimately, the court accepted trial counsel's testimony that throughout his representation of Mr. Farr, "his client was cooperative, intelligent and articulate. . . sane and rational." (PC7:138-9). "As to the guilty plea, there is simply no basis to suggest that Slaughter should have done any further

mental health investigation." (Id.).

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Trial counsel conducted no investigation whatsoever into Mr. Farr's profoundly troubled

life or the circumstances of the vehicular homicide at issue. Counsel failed to verify Mr. Farr's history of psychiatric alcoholism treatment, and suicide attempts before drafting the plea agreement whereby Mr. Farr pled guilty to all charges in return for receiving the death penalty, four life sentences, and ninety years in prison. The capital sentencing order was unlawfully written by the prosecutor.

At the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing, trial counsel asserted that United States Supreme Court law and ABA standards for capital representation do not apply to him or this case. The circuit court agreed, which was clearly erroneous.

# ARGUMENT I

# MR. FARR'S PLEA WAS INVALID AND HIS CONVICTION MUST BE VACATED DUE TO COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION.

"Counsel must strive to prevent a (perhaps depressed or suicidal) client from pleading guilty where there is a likelihood that such a plea will result in a death sentence."

- ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death

Penalty Cases (1989), "Commentary" to Guideline 11.6.3(B)

# C. COUNSEL'S UNREASONABLE NEGLECT OF MR. FARR AND HIS LEGAL DEFENSE.

On December 13, 1990, less than 48 hours after the fatal crash, William Slaughter was appointed as Mr. Farr's lawyer. Over the next two months, Mr. Farr wrote to his lawyer repeatedly, begging for a visit and for some word about his case. Barely two weeks after his arrest, he wrote: "I never ment to kill her (sic). I never plained to hurt her. The police man run me off the road." (D.Ex 34). Three weeks after his arrest, having heard from other inmates and capital defendants what his lawyer was supposed to be doing, he wrote counsel requesting that basic motions be filed (D.Ex 36). After one full month in jail, he still had not heard from his lawyer except for a terse letter, January 10, 1991, containing a copy of the Indictment and telling Mr. Farr that counsel already had everything he needed to know:

These notes, plus your several letters to me, have given me a fairly clear picture of your version of the facts surrounding the incidents which have led to your indictment.

# (D.Ex 37). The following week, Mr. Farr wrote to his lawyer again, in desperation:

I'm seting here in my cell, it must be 3:00 or 4:00 in the morning. It has been 36 days now. Sir, I have yet to have one night of good sleep. I have bad dreams. I need someone to tolk to. I'm about to lose my mind. I start to tolk to an inmate but stop myself . . . because I may say the wrong thing. I've held all this in side wateing for you to come.

(D.Ex 38)(errors in original). After receiving a visit from Lake City Police Chief Frank Owens, Mr. Farr wrote his lawyer again informing him that he had asked Chief Owens "to get a list of my charges." He knew it was "dum" to speak with Owens, but explained that he had nowhere else to turn for help with his case:

Maybe because I feel the end has come. *I've yet to see you. Or recive any word* on the things I've asked. Have you sent for the med. records from the State Hosp. And the Crises Center in San Antonio, Tex where I received mental help yet?

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