IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VICTOR MARCUS FARR,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC08-1406

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Prior to sentencing, the prosecutor sent a copy of a proposed order (DX 30) and a memorandum of law (DX 33) to the defense attorney. The proposed order was not forwarded to the Court prior to sentencing. Prior to sentencing, Slaughter discussed the memorandum of law separately with the prosecutor and Farr. (Hearing transcript page 341) It is not crystal clear at what point the memorandum of law was presented to Judge Agner, but at some point prior to his ruling, the State's memorandum of law was presented to Judge Agner. After argument and the presentation of evidence at the resentencing, Judge Agner took a recess for about an hour. (Hearing transcript - page 171) Judge Agner then met with the attorneys in chambers to discuss his proposed order. The proposed order had been constructed the findings from the usinq sentencing memorandum as a template with handwritten changes and additions by the judge. The bulk of the findings were identical to the State's proposed findings. The main additions were determinations by the Court as to the testimony presented that day by the defendant. The prosecutor was then asked to prepare a final order in conformity with the Judge's instructions. (Hearing transcript - pages 126 -

127; 342) Judge Agner met again with the attorneys in chambers to discuss the proposed order after it was typed up by the State. (Hearing transcript - page 127) The sentencing was then announced on the record and the final product was filed as the Judgment and Sentence in this cause. (Resentencing transcript, December 8, 1993 - pages 47 - 68) No objection was interposed as to the order or the process followed.

As to the defense claim relating to the process followed in drafting the sentencing order, this claim is procedurally barred. As to the defense claim that Judge Agner did not independently weiqh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, this claim is also procedurally barred. Walton v State, 847 So.2d 438, 446-447 (Fla. 2003). The Court specifically rejects the defense contention that because the sentencing memorandum did not get made a part of the original record, there was no basis to appeal. The defense attorney and the defendant were totally apprised as to the circumstances involved. There was no impermissible ex parte communication or other wrongful acts on the part of the prosecutor. The defendant chose not to raise this issue on direct appeal and he is barred from raising the issue at this time. The defense attempted to avoid this obvious bar by claiming that Slaughter was ineffective for not objecting to the procedure followed. The Court can find no basis to say that Slaughter was deficient in not objecting to the procedure employed. The prosecutor informed Slaughter well in advance of sentencing what his proposed findings would be. (DX 30; 33) Farr was made aware of these proposed findings by Slaughter. Farr concurred in these findings. (Resentencing transcript, December 8, 1993 - page 66) Judge Agner did in fact take time to independently weigh the circumstances and the proposed findings. It is simply a little difficult to imagine why the defense would have interposed an objection under the circumstances of this case. Even assuming for sake of arqument that Slaughter's performance was deficient, the defense provided no basis to support a finding that Farr was prejudiced by the process followed. The only contention is a vague reference to some of the findings being inaccurate. It is difficult to see how an objection to the process employed had any likelihood of changing the factual findings of the court. It also highlights the fact that this is a procedurally barred claim, because claims of inaccuracies in the factual findings clearly should have been resolved on direct appeal. This claim is also denied.

(V7 135-138).

The court's conclusions were sound and supported by the record. First, this Court has ruled that such claims must be raised on direct In Walton v. State, 847 So.2d 438, 446 (Fla. 2003), the appeal. defendant similarly claimed that the trial judge improperly abdicated his sentencing responsibilities because he "relied upon the State's sentencing memorandum." The court ruled that the claim was procedurally barred: "Clearly, any claims regarding the conduct of the resentencing trial judge in the creation of his sentencing order could and should have been raised on direct appeal." Id. "Indeed, in Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1990), this Court specifically foreclosed argument regarding the trial court's failure 'to independently weigh the aggravating and mitigating factors' because `they should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal.'" Id. at 446-447.

The same is true here. The fact that the sentencing memorandum was apparently not contained in the record on appeal does not alter this conclusion. As the court below indicated, Appellant was amply aware of the sentencing procedure if he wished to contest it on direct appeal.

Even if this claim were not procedurally barred, it still does not merit relief. This Court's reasoning in Walton applies here:

Even if this claim was not procedurally barred, Walton's contentions here are not supported by the record. The only evidentiary support for Walton's assertions here is the use of identical language in somewhat substantial portions of the final sentencing order and the sentencing memoranda submitted to the trial court by the State. This Court has specifically declared that trial courts must not delegate "the responsibility to prepare a sentencing order" to the State Attorney. Patterson v. State, 513 So.2d 1257, 1261 (Fla. 1987). In the instant case, however, it is clear that the State simply submitted a sentencing memorandum to the trial court for its consideration, which the trial court subsequently considered before writing its sentencing order. This act alone does not constitute error. See Patton v. State, 784 So.2d 380, 388 (Fla.2000) (citing Anderson v. City of Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 572, 105 S.Ct. 1504, 84 L.Ed.2d 518 (1985), for the proposition that "even when the trial court adopts proposed findings verbatim, the findings are those of the court and may be reversed only if clearly erroneous"). Walton does not assert that any impermissible ex parte discussions regarding the resentencing or any other wrongful acts occurred in the creation of the sentencing order. Thus, because there is no evidence contained in the record supporting Walton's contention that the State created or originated the sentencing order, we find no reversible error.

As nothing in the record supports Walton's assertions that the trial court delegated its responsibility regarding preparation of the sentencing order to the State, no reversible error occurred. Therefore, Walton's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is also without merit. See Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Card v. State, 497 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1986) (holding that counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise meritless claims).

Walton, 847 So.2d at 447 (footnote omitted).

The same is true here. Judge Agner did not abdicate his responsibility to independently weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances to the prosecutor. The record reflects that Judge Agner did not request or receive a "proposed order" from either party, or adopt the State's memorandum verbatim, so Appellant has not proved a violation of the procedures set forth in Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993). See Valle v. State, 965 So.2d 960, 965 n.9 (Fla. 2001)(citing Spencer for the proposition that "the trial court may not request that the parties submit proposed orders and adopt one of the proposals verbatim without a showing that the trial court the independently weighed aggravating and mitigating circumstances"). The record also reflects that Judge Agner spent an hour in chambers independently deliberating upon the sentence. The fact that he may have used the State's memorandum as a template is not prohibited by Patterson v. State, 513 So.2d 1257, 1261 (Fla. 1987). Likewise, the fact that the court had the prosecutor reduce his final order to writing does not violate the requirements of Patterson or Spencer, either.

Appellant suggests that the aggravators were "clearly not supported beyond a reasonable doubt" (IB 82). This argument ignores the fact that the resentencing merely adopted the aggravators from the first sentencing, which this Court had already ruled "clearly were established beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Farr I</u> at 1370. The State also agrees with the court below that Appellant's objections to the mitigating circumstances do not demonstrate that the findings were erroneous.⁶

⁶For the same reason, Appellant's suggestion that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the sentencing procedure set forth in this issue. Because the court did not violate his duty to independently evaluate the aggravating and mitigating factors, any objection would have been pointless. <u>See Card v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1169

Finally, it should be noted that the court did not engage in any ex parte contact with the prosecutor in preparing the sentencing order. Slaughter was aware of, and participated in, the entire process. Accordingly, the below did not err in denying this claim for relief.

⁽Fla. 1986) (holding that counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise meritless claims).

ISSUE VIII

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INVESTIGATE APPELLANT'S PSYCHIATRIC HISTORY? (Restated)

Standard of review

Please see Issue I for the standard of review related to an

ineffective assistance of counsel order.

Merits

The court below addressed this claim as follows:

In this claim, Farr contended that Judge Slaughter was ineffective by failing to investigate Farr's psychiatric history and to conduct a proper mental health assessment, and by counsel's unreasonable failure to pursue appropriate mental health defenses. This is basically a restatement of Claim I, subpart 2, and portions of Claim VI. It is not clear what particular part of the proceedings were supposed to have been affected by this failure. As stated Slaughter promptly obtained earlier, an examination by Dr. Mhatre to make sure Farr was competent to enter into a plea and to determine whether there was a sanity issue. (SX I) Dr. Mhatre opined that Farr was currently competent and sane at the time of the offense. Slaughter testified that his client was cooperative, intelligent and articulate. (Hearing transcript - page 378) Farr entered his guilty plea within six (6) weeks of being examined by Dr. Mhatre. As to the guilty plea, there is simply no basis to suggest that Slaughter should have done any further mental health investigation. Slaughter was not deficient in his performance, nor was Farr prejudiced as it related to the guilty plea. As to the December 8, 1993, resentencing,

Slaughter testified that his client appeared sane and rational. (Hearing transcript - page 273) Slaughter further testified that he saw no basis to think that Farr was incompetent. (Hearing transcript - page 315) There is no contrary evidence and no reason to believe that Farr was incompetent at the time of the resentencing. There is no basis to suggest that Slaughter was ineffective or that Farr was prejudiced as to the lack of a competency evaluation at the time of the resentencing. The rest of this claim is simply a restatement of Farr's contention in Claim VI that the mitigation investigation was deficient. The Court will rely on its reasoning as set out in Claim VI as to the basis for denying this portion of the claim.

(V7 138-39).

Appellant argues that Slaughter did not pursue, or investigate, any mitigating evidence related to Appellant's troubled family life or his mental health history. Given the record this claim is without merit. First, to reiterate, the transcripts from Appellant's 1991 and 1993 sentencing hearings, as well as Slaughter's testimony during the evidentiary hearing, clearly evidence that his counsel was cognizant of the potentially mitigating evidence that could have been developed , but Appellant did not want this evidence disclosed. Specifically, during both hearings, Appellant affirmatively stated that he did not want any mitigation presented on his behalf.

To the extent that Appellant now argues that counsel was deficient for failing to pursue this mental health history, the State will rely on the arguments previously presented herein. However, Appellant's testimony during his 1993 resentencing hearing is also instructive. During the 1993 hearing , Appellant testified and disclaimed much of the mitigating evidence that had previously been reported to Dr. Mhatre. Appellant stated that he was raised with "lots of love" (DII VII 471); and that his difficult childhood was not reason his crimes (DII VII 472). Moreover, during his testimony Appellant disclaimed: 1) any previous suicide attempts; 2) the extent

- 58 -

of abuse he suffered as a child; and 3) the trauma of his childhood. <u>Id.</u> 472-80. Thus, Slaughter was confronted with a client who did not want to present any mitigation; and testified – notwithstanding his previous statements to Dr. Mhatre – that no mitigating circumstances existed.

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 375 (2005) and Wiggins v. Smith, In 539 U.S. 520 (2003), the United States Supreme Court has explained that a lawyer representing a capital defendant has a duty to pursue and investigate mitigating evidence on behalf of his client. As is well-understood, Rompilla and Wiggins stand for the proposition that in order to satisfy the Sixth Amendment, a capital defendant's attorney must conduct a substantive investigation of the accused's background, particularly when this information could yield persuasive mitigation, see, e.g., Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 534-535, or, where the defense is aware of the fact that the accused's background, including his criminal history, will be used as an aggravator to support imposition of the death penalty, see, e.g. Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 389-391. However, the Supreme Court has also observed that a capital defendant's affirmative wish to waive mitigation affects the application of these principles. Schriro v. Landrigan, 127 S.Ct. at 1942 (2007) ("Neither Wiggins nor Strickland addresses a situation in which a client interferes with counsel's efforts to present mitigating evidence to a sentencing court"). Accordingly, given the record is clear that Slaughter was cognizant of the existence of mitigating evidence; but Appellant - as was his right - refused to allow its admission.

Any other matters regarding mental-health mitigation have been amply addressed in sub-issue 2 of Issue I and in Issue VI above. The court did not err.

ISSUE IX

DID THE COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE PROSECUTOR HAD IMPROPER CONTACT WITH APPELLANT? (Restated)

Standard of review

To the extent that this issue claims a pure issue of law, review is *de novo*. <u>State v. Glatzmayer</u>, 789 So.2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001). **Merits**

In his motion, Appellant claimed that the State engaged in "improper, unethical unlawful direct and contacts and communications" with him, in spite of their knowledge that he was represented by counsel (V1 148-154). In particular, Appellant complains of three visits to Appellant in jail by Chief Owens, as well as three letters the prosecutor wrote to Appellant long after his resentencing. As Appellant was "susceptible to manipulation," these contacts demonstrate that his guilty plea "was induced by trickery and exploitation of Mr. Farr's status as a jail prisoner" (V1 153).

The court below rejected this claim as follows:

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